JAN 2 3 2014

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 318885

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

### PEGGY MONTGOMERY, and DWIGHT MONTOMGERY, and LISA MONTGOMERY, husband and wife, Appellants, v.

۷.

# GLEN L. ENGELHARD, and JANE DOE ENGELHARD, and their martial community, Respondents, and

WILLIAM M. ADAMS, JANE DOE ADAMS, and their marital community; and TB ADAMS REALTY, LLC, a Washington real estate firm, Defendants

### **OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

Honorable Carrie L. Runge, J. Benton County Superior Court No. 12-2-00030-9

II.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR		
III.	. STATEMENT OF THE CASE4		
	А.	Procedural Statement of the Case4	
	В.	Factual Statement of the Case6	
IV.	SUMM	<ul> <li>i. Englehard is a real estate developer and was a licensed real estate professional</li></ul>	
V. ARGUMENT11			
		The standard of review is <i>de novo</i>	
	C.	Whether Engelhard was regularly engaged in building is a material question of fact for the jury to decide at trial13	
	D.	Whether Engelhard had the home built for personal use or for sale is a material question of fact for the jury to decide at trial	
	Е.	Whether the home Engelhard sold to Montgomery was a "new house" is a material question of fact for the jury to decide at trial	
	F.	Request for reasonable attorney's fees and costs on appeal pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement23	
	VI.	CONCLUSION	

i

### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

CASES Pages(s)
<i>Brouillet v. Cowles Publishing Co.,</i> 114 Wn.2d 788, 791 P.2d 526 (1990)13
Casavant v. Campopiano, 114 R.I. 24, 327 A.2d 831 (1974)24
<i>The Boeing Co. v. Aetna Casualty &amp; Surety Co.,</i> 113 Wn.2d 869, 784 P.2d 507 (1990)17
<i>Coffel v Clallam County,</i> 58 Wn. App. 517, 794 P.2d 513 (1990)12
<i>Frickell v Sunnyside Enterprises, Inc.,</i> 106 Wn.2d 714, 725 P.2d 422 (1986)11, 19, 22
Garrison v. Washington State Nursing Board, 87 Wn.2d 195, 550 P.2d 7 (1976)17
Hertog v. City of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 979 P.2d 400 (1999)13
House v Thorton, 76 wn.2d 428, 457 P.2d 199 (1969)passim
<i>Klinke v. Famous Recipe Fried Chicken Inc.,</i> 94 Wn.2d 255, 616 P.2d 644 (1980)12
<i>Klos v Gockel,</i> 87 Wn.2d 567, 554 P.2d 1349 (1976) passim
LaPlante v. State, 85 Wn.2d 154, 531 P.2d 299 (1975)12
<i>Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Jerome,</i> 122 Wn.2d 157, 856 P.2d 1095 (1993)12

Preston v Duncan,
55 Wn.2d 678, 349 P.2d 605 (1960)12
Redding v. Virginia Mason Medical Center,
75 Wn. App. 424, 878 P.2d 483 (1994)13
Roger Crane & Assocs. v. Felice,
74 Wn. App. 769, 875 P.2d 705 (1994)13
Stuart v. Coldwell Banker Commerical Group, Inc.,
109 Wn.2d 406, 745 P.2d 1284 (1987)14
STATUTES
Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.865
RULES
CR 56(c)11

### I. INTRODUCTION

In 2003, appellant Peggy Montgomery bought a home in Richland, Washington, to live in with her son, appellant Dwight Montgomery, daughter-in-law, appellant Lisa Montgomery, and granddaughter. Montgomery bought the home from defendant/respondent Glen Engelhard, a real estate developer and licensed real estate professional, who built the home as part of a sequential build and sell business plan. As with the commercial properties he develops, Engelhard hired a contractor, whom he had worked with on a commercial property, to help construct the building/house, and Engelhard saved money and created other advantages by directly paying all subcontractors and material vendors.

In October 2010, the home became uninhabitable due to mold growth. The Montgomery family moved into a hotel at first and then into a rental home. They have lived in the rental since. Upon investigation, the Montgomery family learned that there is no vapor barrier in the home's foundation to prevent ground water infiltration. The lack of a vapor barrier caused significant and sustained water intrusion into the home and mold growth, and

caused damage to the structure, damage to personal property in the home, and physical injuries to the Montgomery family.

The Montgomery family's primary claim against Engelhard is for breach of the implied warranty of habitability. Despite evidence that Engelhard had a sequential build and sell business plan and built the home for sale, that Engelhard is a real estate developer of both commercial and residential property, and that Engelhard was regularly engaged in building generally through the development of real estate and specifically by hiring subcontractors, directing workers on site, and paying all the subcontractors and vendors during construction of the home just as he does with development of commercial real estate, the trial court dismissed the implied warranty of habitability claim on summary judgment.

The Montgomery family appeals because there are material questions of fact a jury should decide as to whether Engelhard was regularly engaged in building, whether Engelhard had the home built for personal use or for sale, and whether the home Engelhard sold to Montgomery as the first buyer-occupants was a "new house" under the circumstances. The Montgomery family asks the Court of Appeals to reverse and remand, and to give them their day in court.

### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

#### A. Assignments of Error

The trial court erred in entering its August 8, 2013,
 Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment to Defendant
 Engelhard.

The trial court erred in entering its August 8, 2013,
 Order on Motion for Reconsideration.

### B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Does hiring a licensed contractor during construction allow a builder-vendor to avoid the implied warranty of habitability adopted by *House v. Thornton*, 76 Wn.2d 428, 457 P.2d 199 (1969)? (Assignment of Error 1 and 2)

2. Is there a material question of fact as to whether Engelhard was regularly engaged in building, where Engelhard is a real estate developer by profession, had a sequential build and sell business plan, and was involved in the construction of the home by hiring subcontractors, paying all the subcontractors and material vendors just as he does with development of commercial properties, and by directing workers on the site? (Assignment of Error 1 and 2)

3. Is there a material question of fact as to whether Engelhard had the home built for personal use or sale where Engelhard kept his condominium on the same golf course, had a sequential build and sell business plan in which he began construction of the next home before selling the home at issue to Montgomery, and he lived in or received mail at the Montgomery home for two years in order to obtain a tax benefit before selling the home to Montgomery? (Assignment of Error 1 and 2)

4. Is there a material question of fact as to whether the home was a "new house" where Montgomery was the first buyeroccupants of the home, Engelhard had a sequential build and sell business plan, and Engelhard lived in or received mail at the home for two years to obtain a tax benefit? (Assignment of Error 1 and 2)

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Procedural Statement of the Case

Peggy Montgomery, Dwight Montgomery, and Lisa Montgomery (referred to as "Montgomery family") brought a lawsuit against Mr. Engelhard (referred to as "Engelhard") and other defendants in Benton County Superior Court, Cause No. 12-2-00030-9. CP 1-10. Engelhard moved for summary judgment dismissal. CP 18-37. The trial court heard oral argument on June

28, 2013. Noting that "frankly, I've gone back and forth on this case," the trial court took the matter under advisement. RP 33, at lines 9-10; CP 480. The trial court issued a letter ruling dated July 2, 2013, filed July 9, 2013, and received by the Montgomery family's counsel on July 12, 2013. CP 481-483, 485 at line 8.

The trial court entered an Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment to Defendant Engelhard on August 12, 2013. CP 508-510. The Montgomery family's claims for breach of contract/implied warranty of habitability, breach of real estate professional duties, and negligent construction were dismissed with prejudice. CP 509, lines 8-11. Engelhard's motion was denied as to the Montgomery family's claims for fraudulent concealment and violation of the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86. CP 509, lines 12-15.

The Montgomery family moved for reconsideration and reinstatement of their primary claim for breach of contract/implied warranty of habitability. CP 484-489. The trial court denied the motion for reconsideration. CP 511-512. The Montgomery family voluntarily dismissed, without prejudice, their claims for fraudulent concealment and violation of the Consumer Protection Act so that they could immediately appeal the trial court's dismissal of their

primary claim for breach of contract/implied warranty of habitability. CP 506-507.

### B. Factual Statement of the Case

## i. Engelhard is a real estate developer and was a licensed real estate professional.

Before building the Montgomery home, Engelhard was involved in the development of commercial buildings and fixing up and selling residential homes. Specifically, Engelhard developed a property for Smith Barney, a Sylvan Learning strip mall, and a Quiznos property before building the Montgomery home. CP 428-429. Engelhard also purchased two houses, had a contractor friend fix them up, and then sold the fixed up houses, splitting the profit with his contractor friend. CP 433.

After building the Montgomery home, Engelhard developed a residential subdivision called Country View Estates in a partnership with various builders. CP 424 ("[W]e built the Country View Estates .... It was the first subdivision I was ever involved in, so.") Engelhard also built and sold a home at 464 Anthony Drive in Richland, Washington. CP 430. This was consistent with the sequential build and sell plan that he described to Dwight Montgomery while playing golf. CP 463-464. As with the

Montgomery home, Engelhard bought an empty lot at 464 Anthony Drive, hired the same contractor for construction, paid all the subcontractors and material vendors directly, used entry in the Parade of Homes to get discounts from material vendors, and lived in the home for two years to obtain a tax benefit before selling the home. CP 430, 436, 443; *see also* CP 459-460.

In both his commercial and residential development projects, Engelhard hired contractors for the construction but paid all the subcontractors and material vendors directly. CP 443-444, 460. Specifically, Engelhard testified that he paid the expenses directly "instead of running them through [the general contractor's] books" because "it saves on insurance for the builder and it saves, I don't know, bookkeeping time for him, and something else ... I do that with the commercial buildings we do too quite often, primarily to prevent mechanics' liens and so forth." CP 443-444. Mr. Schmidt, who was president of the general contractor, testified that while both he and Engelhard hired subcontractors and purchased materials for the construction of the Montgomery home, "Mr. Engelhard paid all of the subcontractors and material suppliers." CP 460. Engelhard testified that the contractor would bring him the bills monthly, and Engelhard would pay the bills directly. CP 443.

Engelhard was engaged in the building of the Montgomery home by doing more than just hiring subcontractors and paying expenses directly to avoid running the expenses through the general contractor's books. See CP 459-460. In addition to Engelhard's involvement in the home building project as described by the general contractor, Engelhard admitted to directing workers on the site. CP 434 ("Like if I wanted to change a wall or something like that, instead of going to [the general contractor], I would just ask [the framers] if they would do it, and they would.").

Engelhard was a licensed real estate professional. CP 439. He met the general contractor with whom he built the Montgomery home while working as a real estate agent selling homes that the contractor had built. CP 425-426. Engelhard had also hired the same contractor for development of commercial property before he built the Montgomery home. CP 429. Engelhard was still a licensed real estate professional at the time he sold the home to Peggy Montgomery. See CP 438-440.

ii. Montgomery was the first purchaser of the home. It is undisputed that Engelhard purchased a vacant lot and developed it by building the Montgomery home on it. CP 19. It is undisputed that Peggy Montgomery is the first and only purchaser

of the home Engelhard built on the vacant lot at 625 Meadows Drive in Richland, Washington. While maintaining his condominium on the fourth fairway on the Meadow Springs golf course, Engelhard either lived in or received his mail at the Montgomery home in order to receive a tax advantage when selling the home. *See* CP 463. The Purchase and Sale Agreement between Engelhard and Peggy Montgomery is dated April 30, 2002. CP 66. As a wedding gift to Dwight and Lisa Montgomery, Engelhard allowed them to move into the home in approximately May 2002 before the sale to Dwight's mother Peggy Montgomery closed. CP 451. After the sale closed, Peggy Montgomery lived in the home with her son, daughter-in-law, and granddaughter until it became uninhabitable in 2010. CP 94.

## iii. Due to defects in the foundation, the home is uninhabitable.

The Montgomery home borders wetlands. CP 40. However, there is no vapor barrier in the home's foundation to prevent ground water infiltration into the home. CP 381-419. The lack of a vapor barrier caused significant and sustained water intrusion into the home and mold growth. *Id.* The water intrusion and mold growth caused damage to the structure, personal property in the home,

and physical injuries to the Montgomery family. *Id.* In October 2010, the home became uninhabitable, and the Montgomery family moved out of the home and into a hotel. After living in the hotel for approximately a month, the Montgomery family moved into a rental home, where they continue to live to this date.

### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Montgomery family claimed that Engelhard breached the implied warranty of habitability recognized in Washington since *House v. Thornton*, 76 Wn.2d 428, 457 P.2d 199 (1969).

Engelhard alleges he was not a vendor-builder and the home was built for personal occupancy, not sale. He therefore argued that the implied warranty of habitability did not apply. CP 26-29.

The trial court improperly granted summary judgment on the implied warranty of habitability claim based upon disputed factual findings that Engelhard was not a vendor-builder and that the house was not new when it was sold to the first buyer Peggy Montgomery. CP 482. The Montgomery family presented evidence from which a jury could find that Engelhard was a vendorbuilder and that the home was built for sale, as part of a sequential build and sell business plan, rather than personal occupancy. The Montgomery family also presented evidence from which a jury

could find the home was new at the time of sale to Montgomery, the first buyer, because Engelhard resided in the home for the commercial purpose of obtaining a tax benefit before selling it. If a jury decides these disputed facts in the Montgomery family's favor, the implied warranty of habitability applies.

Under the facts presented, this case is easily distinguishable from *Klos v. Gockel*, 87 Wn.2d 567, 554 P.2d 1349 (1976) and *Frickel v. Sunnyside Enterprises, Inc.*, 106 Wn.2d 714, 725 P.2d 422 (1986), on which the trial court relied. Both *Klos* and *Frickle* recognize the importance of facts to the analysis. Because material facts are in dispute, it was error for the trial court to rule as a matter of law that Engelhard could not be held liable for breach of the implied warranty of habitability.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. The standard of review is de novo.

Although summary judgments are intended to avoid unnecessary trials, courts have zealously protected litigants' right to trial on all legitimately contested issues. Summary judgment is only appropriate if there is no genuine issue of material fact and if the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); *Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Jerome*, 122 Wn.2d 157, 160, 856 P.2d 1095 (1993).

A genuine issue of fact exists and precludes summary judgment when reasonable minds could reach different factual conclusions after considering the evidence. *See Klinke v. Famous Recipe Fried Chicken, Inc.*, 94 Wn.2d 255, 256-57, 616 P.2d 644 (1980). Even where evidentiary facts are not in dispute, summary judgment is not appropriate if "different inferences may be drawn therefrom as to ultimate facts" such as intent, knowledge, good faith, negligence, and any other issue in dispute. *Preston v. Duncan*, 55 Wn.2d 678, 681-82, 349 P.2d 605 (1960). Thus, summary judgment is improper even if the basic facts are not in dispute if those facts are reasonably subject to conflicting inferences. *Coffel v. Clallam County*, 58 Wn. App. 517, 520, 794 P.2d 513 (1990).

It is not enough to show an absence of disputed facts, the movant must also demonstrate that those facts entitle the movant to judgment in its favor and as a matter of law. *LaPlante v. State*, 85 Wn.2d 154, 158, 531 P.2d 299 (1975), citing CR 56(c). The court must construe all facts and reasonable inferences in the light

most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment. *Hertog v. City of Seattle*, 138 Wn.2d 265, 275, 979 P2d 400 (1999).

On appeal, the appellate court decides the case on a *de novo* basis, engaging in the same analysis as the trial court. *See, e.g., Roger Crane & Assocs. v. Felice*, 74 Wn. App. 769, 875 P.2d 705 (1994). Both the law and the facts will be reconsidered by the appellate court. *Brouillet v. Cowles Publishing Co.*, 114 Wn.2d 788, 791 P.2d 526 (1990). Any findings of fact entered by the trial court will be considered superfluous and will be disregarded by the appellate court. *Redding v. Virginia Mason Medical Center*, 75 Wn. App. 424, 878 P.2d 483 (1994).

## B. There is no exception in Washington that allows a vendor-builder to avoid the implied warranty of habitability by hiring a contractor to construct the home.

The Washington Supreme Court first adopted the implied warranty of habitability in *House v. Thornton*: "when a vendorbuilder sells a new house to its first intended occupant, he impliedly warrants that the foundations supporting it are firm and secure and that the house is structurally safe for the buyer's intended purpose of living in it." *House*, 76 Wn.2d at 436. The implied warranty of habitability applies to the sale of a new house to protect the first buyer-occupants of the home against the risk of fundamental defects in the structure of the home. *Stuart v. Coldwell Banker Commercial Group, Inc.*, 109 Wn.2d 406, 416, 745 P.2d 1284 (1987).

In adopting the rule, the *House* court noted that the defendants who built and sold the house, "even though exercising reasonable care to construct a sound building" "were less innocent and more culpable than the wholly innocent and unsuspecting buyer" because the defendants who built and sold the house "had by far the better opportunity to examine the stability of the site and to determine the kind of foundation to install." *House*, 76 Wn.2d at 435-436.

Washington courts have not been anxious to extend the implied warranty of habitability to subsequent purchasers or for mere defects in workmanship. *Stuart*, 109 Wn.2d at 416-417. However, no case has been found in Washington in which it was held that one must be a contractor in order to be a builder-vendor for the purposes of the implied warranty of habitability. CP 487. Perhaps no such case has been found because the court would first need to overrule *House* to the extent it applied the implied warranty of habitability against a real estate professional, who hired

a contractor to construct a home on a lot bought by the real estate professional.

In the seminal case of *House v. Thornton*, the Washington Supreme Court referred to defendant Headley as "builder-vendor" and "vendor-builder," and the court affirmed the trial court's judgment in favor of the home purchasers against defendant Headley by adopting the implied warranty of habitability. *House*, 76 Wn.2d at 432, 435-436. Defendant Headley in *House* was a real estate broker, who bought a lot and arranged for a contractor to build a home on the lot. *Id.* at 429. Just as defendant Headley was a builder-vendor in *House* based upon his actions of (a) hiring a contractor to construct a home on a lot Headley bought and (b) selling the home to the plaintiff purchasers, Engelhard is a buildervendor in this case based upon his actions of (a) hiring a contractor and subcontractors to construct a home on a lot Engelhard bought and (b) selling the home to Montgomery.

House v. Thornton has not been overruled. Thus, it was an error for the trial court below to rule, as a matter of law, that the implied warranty of habitability was not applicable based upon the claim that Engelhard could not be a vendor-builder because he hired a contractor to construct the home that he sold to

Montgomery. CP 482. It was also an error for the trial court to deny the Montgomery family's motion for reconsideration on these grounds. CP 486-487, and 511-512.

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