MAR 27 2014

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

NO. 31888-5-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

PEGGY MONTGOMERY, and DWIGHT MONTGOMERY and LISA MONTGOMERY, husband and wife,

Appellants,

VS.

GLEN L. ENGELHARD, JANE DOE ENGELHARD, and their marital community,

Respondents,

and

WILLIAM M. ADAMS, JANE DOE ADAMS, and their marital community; and TB ADAMS REALTY, LLC, a Washington real estate firm,

Defendants.

APPEAL FROM BENTON COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Carrie Runge, Judge

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

REED McCLURE
By Pamela A. Okano WSBA #7718
Attorneys for Respondents

Address:

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

IV. ARGUMENT

This is an appeal from summary judgment. The purpose of summary judgment is to avoid a useless trial where there is no genuine issue of material fact. *Nielson v. Spanaway General Medical Clinic*, 135 Wn.2d 255, 262, 956 P.2d 312 (1998). This Court reviews summary judgments by engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, Inc.*, 140 Wn.2d 291, 295, 996 P.2d 582 (2000).

Although facts and reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, plaintiffs here still had to set forth specific facts to create a genuine issue of material fact. *See Seiber v. Poulsbo Marine Center, Inc.*, 136 Wn. App. 731, 736-37, 150 P.3d 633 (2007); *Lynn v. Labor Ready, Inc.*, 136 Wn. App. 295, 305-06, 151 P.3d 201 (2006). They could not rely on speculation, conclusory statements, or argumentative assertions that factual issues remain. *Seiber*, 136 Wn. App.

at 736-37. Their affidavits or declarations are not to be taken at face value, and they were required to offer more than merely colorable evidence or a scintilla of evidence. *Id.* at 736. "Ultimate facts or conclusions of fact are insufficient." *Id.* at 737.

Moreover, while credibility issues ordinarily cannot be decided on summary judgment, plaintiffs here—

"must be able to point to some facts which may or will entitled [them] to judgment, or refute the proof of the moving party in some material portion, and that the opposing party may not merely recite the incantation, 'Credibility,' and have a trial on the hope that a jury may disbelieve factually uncontested proof."

Laguna v. State Department of Transportation, 146 Wn. App. 260, 266-67, 192 P.3d 374 (2008) (quoting Howell v. Spokane & Inland Empire Blood Bank, 117 Wn.2d 619, 627, 818 P.2d 1056 (1991)).

A. NOT ALL OF PLAINTIFFS' FACTS ARE CORRECT.

Preliminarily, correction of some of the "facts" plaintiffs have set forth in their brief is necessary. First, citing CP 463, plaintiffs claim that Mr. Engelhard "either lived in *or received his mail* at the Montgomery home in order to receive a tax advantage when selling the home" (Opening Brief of Appellants 9) (emphasis added). The record shows that Mr. Engelhard lived at the home, and did not merely receive mail there.

First, Mr. Engelhard testified that he lived there. (CP 64) Second, and perhaps even more importantly, plaintiff Dwight Montgomery stated

under oath that Mr. Engelhard was "living in the upstairs" portion of the home, that he met him "at the house" before they went out to play golf, that Mr. Engelhard's "desk was in the living room", and that Mr. Engelhard was not only "going through his mail", but was also "paying bills." (CP 464) And, of course, contrary to the implication that mght be drawn by plaintiffs' statement at CP 463, the home was *not* the "Montgomery home" at the time.

Second, citing CP 436, plaintiff claims that Mr. Engelhard lived in the home (a contradiction to their claim that he might have merely received mail there) for two years to obtain a tax benefit before selling it. (Opening Brief of Appellants 7) That is not what CP 436 says. CP 436, a page from plaintiff Dwight Montgomery's declaration, says that *according to Mr. Montgomery*, Mr. Engelhard told him that he intended to live in the house to obtain a tax benefit before selling it. Mr. Engelhard did not recall making any such statement. (CP 442) As will be discussed, however, that does not create a genuine issue of material fact that entitled plaintiffs to go to trial.

B. THE IMPLIED WARRANTY OF HABITABILITY DOES NOT APPLY.

Plaintiffs have abandoned on appeal all their claims except the claim for breach of the implied warranty of habitability. In Washington, an implied warranty of habitability attaches to (1) the sale of a new residence

(2) if the builder-vendor was a commercial builder, and (3) the residence was built for sale, not personal occupancy. *Atherton Condominium Apartment Owners Association Board of Directors v. Blume Development Co.*, 115 Wn.2d 506, 519, 799 P.2d 250 (1990). If any one of these three conditions is not met, there is no implied warranty of habitability. *See, e.g., Klos v. Gockel,* 87 Wn.2d 567, 554 P.2d 1349 (1976) (no implied warranty where vendor had acted as her own general contractor, but built for her own personal use); *Carlile v. Harbour Homes, Inc.*, 147 Wn. App. 193, 194 P.3d 280 (2008) (no implied warranty where plaintiffs were original purchasers' assignees, even though defendant was commercial builder). In other words, to prevail on appeal, plaintiffs here must show there is a genuine issue of fact with respect to each of the three conditions.

Because they cannot meet this burden, plaintiffs seek to expand the implied warranty far beyond its present boundaries. But the Washington Supreme Court has cautioned that the implied warranty in this state is "a limited one," and that "[t]his court has not been anxious to extend the implied warranty of habitability beyond its present boundaries." *Stuart v. Coldwell Banker Commercial Group, Inc.*, 109 Wn.2d 406, 415, 416, 745 P.2d 1284 (1987). As will be discussed, there is no reason to do so here.

1. The House Was Not New When Sold to Plaintiffs, the Second Occupants.

The implied warranty of habitability attaches only to the sale of *new* houses. *Stuart v. Coldwell Banker Commercial Group, Inc.*, 109 Wn.2d 406, 415, 745 P.2d 1284 (1987). Here, the house was not new when Peggy Montgomery bought it—the sale occurred more than four years after construction was complete, and Mr. Engelhard had lived in the house for two of those years. (CP 3, 39, 64)

In support of their argument that the house was new, plaintiffs argue that Peggy Montgomery was the home's first *purchaser*. But the "new" house rule does not mean that the implied warranty always runs in favor of a house's first *owner* or *purchaser*. Rather, it is the first *occupant* who may bring an action under the implied warranty. *See House v. Thornton*, 76 Wn.2d 428, 436, 457 P.2d 199 (1969) (implied warranty exists when vendor-builder sells "new house" to "its first intended occupant"); *Gay v. Cornwall*, 6 Wn. App. 595, 494 P.2d 1371 (1972) (implied warranty applied to third owner who was first occupant).

Indeed, Washington courts treat the "new house/first occupant" requirement so strictly that even the first occupant's assignee has no right to bring a breach of implied warranty of habitability claim. *Carlile v. Harbour Homes, Inc.*, 147 Wn. App. 193, 202-03, 194 P.3d 280 (2008).

As *Carlisle* recognized, "[w]hat is clear is that the supreme court and other courts in this state have consistently refused to expand liability" "to those beyond the first [occupants] of new homes." *Id*.

In fact, aware that Washington courts have limited the implied warranty of habitability to first purchasers or occupants, the Legislature has several times considered proposed legislation that would have extended the common law implied warranty to subsequent purchasers or owners such as plaintiffs. *See*, *e.g.*, HB 1045 § 4, 2009 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2009); SSB 5923 § 2(7), 2000 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2000); SB 5923, §§ 1(3), 2(1)-(2), 1999 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 1999). None of these measures has been enacted.

In contrast, the Legislature has enacted statutory (1) implied warranties of quality applicable only to condominiums, RCW 64.34.445; and (2) implied warranty of habitability applicable only to residential tenancies, RCW 59.18.060. If the Legislature had intended that implied

¹ The statutory implied warranties of quality applicable to condominiums include implied warranties that condominium units and common areas will be suitable for ordinary uses, and that any improvements made or contracted for by the condominium declarant or dealer will be free from defective materials and constructed in accordance with sound engineering and construction standards, in a workmanlike manner, and in compliance with all then applicable laws. RCW 64.34.445(2).

² The statutory implied warranty of habitability applicable to residential tenancies is limited to the specific items set forth in RCW 59.18.060. *Aspon v. Loomis*, 62 Wn. App. 818, 825-26, 816 P.2d 751 (1991), *rev. denied*, 118 Wn.2d 1015 (1992).

warranties of habitability run to secondary purchasers or occupants of single family residences, it would have passed the proposed legislation or otherwise extended the statutory implied warranties it did enact to secondary purchasers and occupants. It has not.

In the instant case, plaintiffs were not the house's first occupants; Engelhard was. Plaintiffs did not live in the house until more than four years after its construction. Consequently, the house was not new when sold, so plaintiffs cannot sue for breach of the implied warranty of habitability. Summary judgment in Engelhard's favor must be affirmed.

Plaintiffs point out that *Klos v. Gockel*, 87 Wn.2d 567, 554 P.2d 1349 (1976), stated that whether a house is "new" presents a question of fact. This was dicta because the *Klos* court expressly "f[ou]nd it unnecessary to decide if respondents were purchasers of a 'new house." *Id.* at 571.

Moreover, *Klos* did not say the issue could *never* be decided as a matter of law. There are many legal concepts that generally present questions of fact, but under the right circumstances, can be decided as a matter of law. *See, e.g., Hynek v. City of Seattle,* 7 Wn.2d 386, 398, 111 P.2d 247 (1941) (contributory negligence): *Whaley v. State,* 90 Wn. App. 658, 675-76, 956 P.2d 1100 (1998) (negligence) *cf. Yong v. Heng,* 140 Wn. App. 825, 834, 166 P.3d 1263 (2007) (recognizing causation may

sometimes be decided as a matter of law), rev. denied, 163 Wn.2d 1045 (2008).

This case presents the right circumstances for deciding the issue as a matter of law. Plaintiffs were not first occupants, as required by *House* and *Gay*.

As part of their argument that the house was new when sold to Peggy Montgomery, plaintiffs argue that Mr. Engelhard created an intervening tenancy for the primary purpose of promoting the house's sale. (Opening Brief of Appellants 23-24) It is true that *Klos* held:

It is not enough ... that [the builder-vendor] contemplated an eventual sale of the house, for ... the sale must be fairly contemporaneous with completion and not interrupted by an intervening tenancy unless the builder-vendor created such an intervening tenancy for the primary purpose of promoting the sale of the property.

87 Wn.2d at 570-71. But this holding has little to do with the "new sale/first occupant" requirement because *Klos* "f[oun]d it unnecessary to decide if respondents were purchasers of a 'new house'." *Id.* at 571. Rather, the above quotation refers to the requirement that the house be constructed for purpose of sale. Many homeowners build houses contemplating eventual sale. But for the house to meet the requirement that it was built for the purpose of sale, the sale must be fairly contemporaneous with completion of construction and not interrupted by

an intervening tenancy unless that tenancy was primarily to promote the sale.

In any event, even if the "no intervening tenancy" requirement were pertinent to the issue of whether the house was "new", the intervening tenancy was Mr. Engelhard's two-year tenancy. There is no evidence that its primary purpose was to promote the house's sale.

Plaintiffs claim that the intervening tenancy was Dwight and Lisa Montomery's occupation of the home as renters between May 2002 until the house sale closed in July 2003. They then claim that a jury could find that Mr. Engelhard created this tenancy for the purpose of promoting the sale.

Plaintiffs are asking this Court to engage in speculation and conjecture. As plaintiffs themselves admit, Peggy Montgomery's purchase and sale agreement was dated April 2002, *before* the younger Montgomerys even moved in. (CP 66) There is not one shred of evidence, let alone reasonable inferences therefrom, that Mr. Engelhard permitted the younger Montgomerys' tenancy prior to closing for the purpose of promoting the sale. In fact, plaintiffs admit the tenancy was Mr. Engelhard's wedding gift to the younger Montgomerys, Dwight having been a golfing buddy of his. (CP 451, 463) In any event, plaintiffs cite no

authority for their implicit claim that Mr. Engelhard's previous 2-year tenancy can be ignored.

Whether the intervening tenancy—regardless of whose it was—caused the defects is immaterial. As *Klos* recognized, for the implied warranty to apply, the purpose of any intervening tenancy must have been to promote the house for sale. 87 Wn.2d at 570-71. There is no evidence of that here. Moreover, nowhere do plaintiffs cite any authority that causation is even relevant. Similarly, they argue without any authority that Mr. Engelhard's knowledge of the tax advantage of living at the home for two years is somehow relevant to whether the home was "new" and whether plaintiffs were "first occupants." Common sense indicates that the tax issue has nothing to do with the "new house"/"first occupants" issue.

Plaintiffs attempt to invoke policy reasons to support their argument. But the Washington Supreme Court has already identified the policy reasons behind the new house/first occupant requirement, and they do not support plaintiffs:

As a matter of policy, determined by this court, it seems apparent that a builder who puts a house on the market, *brand new and never occupied*, has some responsibility to the ultimate buyer. The builder bult the thing. ...

Frickel v. Sunnyside Enterprises, Inc., 106 Wn.2d 714, 717, 725 P.2d 422 (1986) (emphasis added). The house here was not "brand new" and had previously been occupied for as long as two years. Moreover, as will be discussed in the next section, Mr. Engelhard was not the "builder" who "built the thing" and was in no better position than plaintiffs to determine whether the house was being built properly.

The implied warranty applies only to benefit first occupants of new homes. Plaintiffs were not first occupants. The home was not new. Summary judgment must be affirmed.

2. Engelhard Was Not a Commercial Builder.

Because the house was not new and plaintiffs were not its first occupants, they cannot sue Engelhard for breach of any implied warranty of habitability. Therefore, this Court need go no further. *See Carlile*, 147 Wn. App. at 202-03.

But even if the house had been new when plaintiff Peggy Montgomery purchased it, the implied warranty of habitability does not apply to every sale of a new house. *Frickel v. Sunnyside Enterprises, Inc.*, 106 Wn.2d 714, 718, 725 P.2d 422 (1986). The warranty applies only where the new dwelling is built "by a builder-vendor in the business of building such dwellings." *Id.*

Thus, the defendant in a breach of implied warranty of habitability case must be a commercial builder so that the sale is a commercial one, rather than casual or personal in nature. *Klos*, 87 Wn.2d at 570. Hence, even if plaintiffs had been the house's first occupants and the house had been "new" when they first moved in, summary judgment in Engelhard's favor was still proper because although he was the home's vendor, he was not its commercial builder. His general contractor, Castle Builders, was. (CP 39, 48, 476)

This Court's decision in *Boardman v. Dorsett*, 38 Wn. App. 338, 341, 685 P.2d 615, *rev. denied*, 103 Wn.2d 1006 (1984), provides a helpful comparison. In that case, the vendor had built the house he sold to the buyer and had built one other house, his family home. The vendor was not, however, a licensed general contractor. The buyer sued for breach of the implied warranty of habitability. Affirming summary judgment for the vendor, this Court explained:

A commercial builder is "a person regularly engaged in building ..."... Mr. Boardman was not a licensed building contractor and had only built one other house—his family home. Since it is clear from the evidence presented that Mr. Boardman was not a commercial builder, no factual dispute existed and the court did not err in granting summary judgment on this issue.

38 Wn. App. at 341-42.

Like the vendor-builder in *Boardman*, Engelhard was not a licensed building contractor. Unlike the vendor-builder in *Boardman*, however, Mr. Engelhard did not *build* the house at issue. Castle Builders, the general contractor, did. (CP 39, 48, 460, 476) If a builder like the *Boardman* defendant could not be a commercial builder, a vendor like Mr. Engelhard, who did not build the house, cannot be either.

Plaintiffs rely on *House v. Thornton*, 76 Wn.2d 428, 457 P.2d 199 (1969), to claim that a vendor who hires a contractor to construct the home can nevertheless be subject to the implied warranty of habitability. Plaintiffs' reliance is misplaced because they ignore a crucial fact in *House*.

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